A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Appellant was denied his constitutional right to 

confront his accuser when the trial court erroneously ruled he had 

forfeited this right. 

2. Appellant was denied his constitutional right to a fair 

trial when the prosecutor appealed to the jury's emotions and 

argued facts not in evidence, thus diverting the jury's attention 

away from its duty to render a fair and impartial verdict. 

3. The trial court erred when it found the no-contact 

order defendant was accused of violating was valid. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Appellant was charged with fourth degree assault after 

he and his girlfriend got into an argument. His girlfriend told police 

that appellant hit her, but she was unavailable to testify to this at trial. 

The State argued her statement was still admissible because 

appellant had forfeited his right to confrontation by sending numerous 

messages to his girlfriend (despite the existence of a no-contact 

order), urging her not to show up at trial. The record also establishes, 

however, that even before these messages were sent, appellant's 

girlfriend independently refused to assist police and would not provide 

a written statement because she loved appellant and wanted him 
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released. Given this record, did the trial court err when it found there 

was clear, cogent and convincing evidence that appellant caused the 

witness to become unavailable? 

2. During closing argument, the prosecutor appealed to 

the passions and sympathy of the jury by focusing on the fact that the 

complainant was pregnant with appellant's baby and by conjuring up 

notions that she was unhappy and missing out on the happy-go-lucky 

life of a teenager because of appellant's contact with her. There was 

no evidence to support this. The prosecutor also suggested that 

appellant knew his girlfriend was pregnant at the time of the alleged 

assault, even though there was no evidence to support this. Finally, 

the prosecutor invited the jury to speculate that appellant was 

continuing to violate a no-contact order by contacting his girlfriend up 

to and during the trial. Again, there was no evidence to support such 

prejudicial speculation. Was appellant denied a fair trial due flagrant 

prosecutorial misconduct? 

3. The pre-trial no-contact order at issue here, which 

served as a basis for five charges of its violation, had an expiration 

date of 2063 (nearly 50 years in duration). The issuing court and the 

prosecutor provided no explanation as to why such a lengthy duration 

was reasonably necessary. The statute only permits a duration up to 
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conviction or dismissal of the charges, which would have happened 

well before 50 years, given appellant's constitutional right to a speedy 

trial. As such, was the order invalid as a matter of law? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural History 

On March 11, 2013, the King County prosecutor charged 

appellant AI-Penyo Kniar-James Brooks with one count of witness 

tampering, one count of fourth degree assault, and two counts of a 

misdemeanor violation of a no-contact order. CP 1-8. On October 

12, 2014, the information was amended and the State added three 

more counts of violating the no-contact order. RP 10-12. 

Additionally, the State charged a domestic violence enhancement 

for each· count. CP 10-12. After a trial, a jury found Brooks guilty 

as charged. CP 52-61. He appeals. CP 105. 

2. Substantive Facts 

On January 20, 2014, Brooks returned to Seattle after a trip 

to Portland. RP 633.1 He immediately went to see his girlfriend, 

Alexis Wilturner. RP 633. Wilturner was living with her 

grandmother. RP 633-34. 

1 Unless otherwise noted, "RP" refers to the primary trial transcript, 
which is multi-volume and consecutively paginated up to page746. 
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After arriving at Wilturner's home, Brooks looked at 

Wilturner's phone and discovered some flirtatious texts between 

her and another man. RP 633, 638. Brooks was heartbroken. RP 

639. He wanted to leave but Wilturner attempted to prevent him, 

grabbing at his shirt and directing him to stay. RP 641-43. 

Eventually, Brooks left. RP 648. However, he soon realized he 

had left his cellphone in Wilturner's apartment and became worried 

Wilturner might do something to it. RP 650-52. He went back, 

knocked on the door, and demanded that Wilturner return his 

phone, but she did not. RP 651-52. Wilturner's grandmother called 

911. RP 403, 652. 

Police arrived, found Brooks kicking the door, and ordered 

him to the ground. RP 377, 398. One officer took Brooks to the 

police car, while another spoke with Wilturner. RP 378, 398. The 

officer observed Wilturner had an injured lip. RP 380. Wilturner 

claimed Brooks hit her. RP 381. However, she refused to let police 

take pictures and refused to give a written statement. RP 380, 383. 

She loved Brooks and told police she wanted him released before 

she would cooperate. RP 383. 

Brooks was arrested. RP 404, 455. On January 21, 2014, 

the Federal Way court issued a pretrial no-contact order, restraining 
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Brooks form contacting Wilturner. Ex. 12. Afterward, Brooks made 

many phone calls and sent numerous emails to Wilturner. RP 662-

63. In some, he urged Wilturner not to come to trial. RP 510. 

At trial, Brooks admitted to contacting Wilturner, but he 

explained that he thought the no-contact order had been dismissed 

and that any new one would apply only if he were convicted. RP 

662-63, 666, 670. 

Meanwhile, Wilturner did not respond to the State's 

subpoena and did not testify. RP 196-97. The jury was permitted 

to hear her statement that Brooks assaulted her, however, because 

the trial court found Brooks had forfeited by wrongdoing his right to 

confront this witness. RP 198-200. 

C. ARGUMENT 

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED 
APPELLANT FORFEITED HIS RIGHT TO 
CONFRONT THE COMPLAINING WITNESS. 

The Sixth Amendment gives criminal defendants the right to 

confront the witnesses against them. A criminal defendant may 

forfeit this right only if he causes a witness to be unavailable. State 

v. Mason, 160 Wn.2d 910, 925, 162 P.3d 396 (2007). This rule is 

known as the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine, and it permits the 

introduction of a witness' statements if the defendant causes the 
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witness to be unavailable through wrongdoing. State v. Dobbs, 180 

Wn. 2d 1, 10-11,320 P.3d 705,709 (2014). 

When deciding whether to apply the doctrine of forfeiture by 

wrongdoing, the trial court must determine whether there is clear, 

cogent, and convincing evidence that the wrongdoing of the 

accused caused the witness' unavailability. Under the clear, 

cogent, and convincing standard, the fact at issue must be shown 

to be "highly probable." In re Welfare of Sego, 82 Wn.2d 736, 739, 

513 P.2d 831 (1973). 

As the Washington Supreme Court has stated, "We 

recognize that this is not an easy standard to meet, but the right of 

confrontation should not be easily deemed forfeited by an 

accused." Mason, 160 Wn.2d at 927. Under this high standard, 

the State must make a substantial showing of causation before a 

defendant may be stripped of his constitutional right to confront his 

accusers. See,~' Dobbs, 180 Wn. 2d at 1-2 (causation proved 

by showing defendant repeatedly threatened the witness with 

physical violence); Mason, 160 Wn.2d at 925 (causation proved by 

showing defendant murdered the witness). 

The record in this case does not contain clear, cogent, and 

convincing evidence that Brooks caused Wilturner's unavailability. 
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Although the State produced evidence of unlawful contacts in which 

Brooks urged Wilturner not to show up at trial, there is nothing to 

show these contacts actually caused Wilturner to avoid testifying. 

Indeed, there was compelling evidence showing that Wilturner had 

her own motive for making herself unavailable. Wilturner loved 

Brooks and did not want to cooperate with his arrest. RP 380, 383; 

CP 6. She wanted to protect him and would not let officers take a 

picture of her alleged injuries. RP 280. She refused to give a 

written statement to officers unless Brooks was released. CP 6; RP 

383. 

Given Wilturner's personal disdain for moving forward with 

the prosecution, it is not "highly probable" that the defendant's 

actions caused Wilturner to absent herself from trial. Instead, it is 

far more probable that she independently chose not to appear 

because she did not want to support the prosecution of her 

boyfriend in any way. 

In sum, the State did not prove it was highly probably that 

Brooks was indeed the cause of Wilturner's absence from trial. 

Consequently, the trial court erred when it found Brooks forfeited 

his right to confront his accuser and admitted Wilturner's hearsay 

statement regarding the alleged assault. This Court should, 
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therefore, reverse the assault conviction. 

II. BROOKS WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL DUE TO 
PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT. 

Brooks was denied his right to a fair trial when the 

prosecutor appealed to the emotions of the jurors, argued facts not 

in evidence, and diverted the jury's attention away from its duty to 

independently and impartially render a verdict. 

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of the fair 

trial guaranteed him under the state and federal constitutions. 

State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); 

State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984); State v. 

Evans, 163 Wn. App. 635, 642, 260 P.3d 934 (2011). Because of 

their unique position in the justice system, prosecutors must steer 

wide from unfair trial tactics. Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 676 (citations 

omitted). 

A prosecutor serves two important functions. A 
prosecutor must enforce the law by prosecuting those 
who have violated the peace and dignity of the state by 
breaking the law. A prosecutor also functions as the 
representative of the people in a quasijudicial capacity 
in a search for justice. 

ld. Defendants are among the people the prosecutor represents and, 

therefore, the prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see that their 

rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated. ld. 
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Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal if the 

prosecuting attorney's conduct is both improper and prejudicial. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 675, (citations omitted). Even if a defendant 

does not object, he does not waive his right to have the flagrant 

misconduct by a prosecutor reviewed on appeal. State v. Belgarde, 

110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988); State v. Charlton, 90 

Wn.2d 657, 661, 585 P.2d 142 (1978). 

It is improper for a prosecutor to make comments designed 

to appeal to the passion and prejudice of the jury or to encourage a 

verdict based on emotion rather than evidence. Belgarde, 110 

Wn.2d at 507-08. Appeals to the jury's "passion and prejudice" 

through use of inflammatory rhetoric constitutes misconduct. ld. 

Prosecutors must refrain from making comments that are 

reasonably calculated to align the jury with the prosecutor and 

against the accused. Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 147-48. 

Prejudicial allusions to matters outside the evidence are 

improper because they encourage the jury to render a verdict 

based on something other than the admitted evidence . .!.Q.. at 507. 

Such arguments improperly divert the jury's attention from its duty 

to independently decide the case on the evidence. See, ABA 

-9-



Standards for Criminal Justice 3-5.8 (setting forth such duty). A 

prosecutor cannot argue facts that are not in evidence. In re Pers. 

Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704-05, 286 P.3d 673 

(2012). 

Here, the prosecutor made a blatant appeal to the jury's 

passion and emotion through the use of speculation and 

inflammatory rhetoric that painted a picture of Wilturner as a 

vulnerable young pregnant woman whose life was ruined by 

Brooks, the man who impregnated her and controls her through 

continuous illegal contacts. To this end, the prosecutor first argued: 

[Brooks] didn't want [Wilturner] to have to get up here, 
and, under oath, have to tell you what happened to 
her, that she was punched in the face by somebody 
that says he loves her, the father of her unborn child. 

RP 696 (emphasis added). The prosecutor went on to state: 

He called her again and again and again, a 17-year
old pregnant mother of his unborn child. 

RP 720 (emphasis added). The prosecutor then ended her 
argument with the following story: 

Ms. Wilturner is 17. She should be having her 
first week of high school, or first week of her senior 
year in high school, having fun with her friends, 
shopping for school clothes, getting excited. She's 
not. She's fielding angry and abusive phone calls. 
"Buy me money, put money on my books, you better 
call me more, send me more pictures, send me more 
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letters, talk to this person, do this, do that, do this, do 
that. 

But she's running around, trying to go to her 
doctor's visits for this baby. She's not enjoying life, 
like she should be. But we're going to punish her 
because she falls prey to his manipulations? And he 
is able to control her? She's young. She's scared. 
That's not okay. And that's why this is important. So 
we've shown you that the State has proven every one 
of these charges beyond a reasonable doubt. 

RP 721. 

The prosecutor's argument constitutes flagrant misconduct. 

First, there was no legitimate reason for the prosecutor to refer to 

Brooks as "the father of [Wilturner's] unborn child" and refer to 

Wilturner as the "pregnant mother of his unborn child." The 

pregnancy was irrelevant in the context of the prosecutor's 

argument. The fact of the pregnancy was in no way integral to 

proving the assault or the violation of the no-contact order. Instead, 

the prosecutor's fixation on this fact was designed to have the jury 

envision Brooks as a man who would be so despicable as to punch 

his partner knowing she was carry his unborn child and to envision 

Wilturner as an overwhelmed pregnant woman whose life was 

ruined by her boyfriend's continuous contact. The record does not 

support such inflammatory rhetoric. 
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Second, much of the prosecutor's argument amounts to 

nothing more than pure fantasy. She suggested Brooks alone has 

denied Wilturner the Pollyanna life of a senior high school student 

as envisioned by the prosecutor. Yet, there was no evidence 

Wilturner was even enrolled in high school or would have been 

excited to start another school year, especially as she was about to 

give birth. There was no evidence that Brooks' contacts prevented 

Wilturner from "having fun with her friends, shopping for school 

clothes, [or] getting excited" about the school year. There was no 

evidence Wilturner was "not enjoying life" due to Brooks' contacts, 

or that Wilturner was somehow burdened in getting to her doctor's 

appointments because of his contacts. 

The prosecutor's argument was nothing more than a fantasy 

that was put forth to the jury for one reason -to gain their sympathy 

and align them with the alleged victim. This was patently improper. 

Forfeiture by wrongdoing permits the State to bring in an 

unavailable witness' statements without confrontation. It does not 

give the prosecutor license to make up a story about the victim or 

speculate as to her feelings, emotions, demeanor, and motives in 

order to elicit sympathy from the jury. 
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Third, there was no evidence to support the prosecutor's 

claim that Wilturner was "fielding angry and abusive phone calls" 

during the week before school was to start (i.e. the week of trial). 

This improper argument was particularly prejudicial because it 

invited the jury to speculate that Brooks was engaging in criminal 

conduct and continued to violate the no contact order up to the very 

day of argument. There was no proof of this. As such, the 

prosecutor's argument served no purpose other than to prejudice 

the jury against Brooks and divert the jury away from its duty to 

render a fair and impartial verdict based on a reasoned 

consideration of the evidence, not speculation of continuous 

criminal action. 

In sum, the prosecutor committed flagrant misconduct when 

she: (1) unnecessarily and prejudicially emphasized the fact that 

Wilturner was carrying Brooks unborn child, (2) suggested that 

Brooks knew Wilturner was pregnant when the alleged assault 

occurred, (3) crafted a fantasy as to Wilturner's life at the time of 

the trial (i.e. "the first week of her senior year in high school") and 

suggested Brooks had destroyed any enjoyment and happiness 

she might have, and (4) speculated that Brooks continued to violate 
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the no contact order and contact Wilturner up to and throughout the 

trial. The degree of wild speculation and the blatant appeals to the 

jury's sympathies demonstrate that the prosecutor's misconduct 

was a flagrant disregard of Brooks's right to a fair trial. 

Consequently, this Court should find he was denied this right and 

reverse his convictions. 

Ill. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING AN 
INVALID NO-CONTACT ORDER AS EVIDENCE. 

The trial court abused its discretion when it permitted the 

State to introduce the no-contact order.2 

Pursuant to 1 0.99.040(3), a pretrial no-contact order was 

established restraining Brooks from contacting Wilturner. Ex 12. 

The order set forth an expiration date of 2063 - nearly fifty years in 

duration. Prior to trial, the defense moved to exclude the order as 

invalid as a matter of law on the ground the court lacked authority 

to issue an order where the State did not show the duration was 

reasonably necessary. CP 17-19; RP 28-29, 34-35. In response, 

the State moved to have the no contact order admitted, arguing that 

2 An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is 
manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or 
reasons. State v. Garcia, 179 Wn.2d 828, 844, 318 P.3d 266 
(2014). 
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the cases cited by the defendant were distinguishable. RP 29-32. 

The trial court granted the State's motion without explanation. RP 

39-40. 

[T]he "existence" of a no-contact order is an element .of the 

crime of violating such an order. State v. Miller, 156 Wn.2d 23, 24, 

123 P.3d 827 (2005). However, the "validity" of the no-contact 

order is a question of law appropriately within the province of the 

trial court to decide as part of the court's gate-keeping function. kL. 

The trial judge should not permit an invalid, vague, or otherwise 

inapplicable no-contact order to be admitted into evidence. lsi. 

The no-contact order at issue here was invalid. A trial 

court's sentencing authority for issuing a pretrial no-contact order is 

set forth by statute: 

At the time of arraignment the court shall determine 
whether a no-contact order shall be issued or 
extended. So long as the court finds probable cause, 
the court may issue or extend a no-contact order even 
if the defendant fails to appear at arraignment. The no
contact order shall terminate if the defendant is 
acquitted or the charges are dismissed .... 

RCW 1 0.99.040(3). 

Although there is no specific duration limitation set forth in 

RCW 1 0.99.040, no contact orders may be invalid on constitutional 

grounds if they extend beyond a reasonable timeframe. In re 
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Rainey, 168 Wn. 2d 367, 381-82, 229 P.3d 686, 692 (2010). 

Because no-contact orders restrict fundamental rights - such as 

freedom of speech, association, and movement - they must be 

sensitively imposed. !Q. The duration of any restriction must be 

narrowly drawn and shown by the State to be reasonably 

necessary. !sL. (striking a lifetime no-contact order because the 

record did not show the order was narrowly drawn to restrict only 

what was reasonably necessary); State v. Gitchel, 5. Wn.App. 93, 

94-95, 486 P.2d 328 (1971) (holding "unhesitatingly" that a 

sentencing condition banishing the defendant from the state forever 

would be unconstitutional). 

Here, the issuing court provided no reason for the nearly 50-

year duration of the no-contact, and the State failed to show it was 

reasonably necessary. Simply put, there is no legitimate 

explanation that can be made for a pretrial no-contact order of such 

a lengthy duration. Hence, the order is invalid because it is 

unconstitutional restriction of Brooks' fundamental rights. 

The order is also invalid because the issuing court exceeded 

its statutory authority. RCW 1 0.99.040(3) only authorizes the trial 

court to issue the order until "the defendant is acquitted or the 
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charges are dismissed."3 Because a violation of the defendants 

right to speedy trial sets the outer limit for time to bring a case to 

trial before dismissal is required, this also necessarily establishes 

the extent of court's authority to issue a pre-trial no-contact order. 

The issuing court's authority only extends as far as the speedy trial 

period legitimately extends. 

While the notions of what constitutes a speedy trial have

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