NO. 72564-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

AL-PENYO BROOKS,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JOHN H. CHUN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

IAN ITH
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse

516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104

(206) 477-9497

August 18, 2015

72564-5 72564-5

lamoo
File Date Empty

A. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. A defendant forfeits his Sixth Amendment right to

confront a witness, and waives a hearsay objection, when clear,

cogent and convincing evidence shows a defendant's wrongdoing

was intended to, and did, procure the unavailability of a witness.

While charged with assaulting his teenage girlfriend, Brooks

phoned and emailed her hundreds of times from jail despite a

no-contact order, including multiple calls and messages demanding

that she not testify. After the calls and messages began, the

victim's contact with the State ceased. Did the trial court have

sufficient evidence to find it highly probable that the defendant

intentionally caused the witness's unavailability, thus forfeiting his

confrontation right?

2. A prosecutor's unobjected-to remarks during closing

arguments may require a new trial if the remarks were improper,

and were so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no instruction could

have cured the prejudice. In Brooks's trial for witness-tampering,

domestic-violence assault and several violations of a court order,

the prosecutor explained the victim's absence and Brooks's control

over her by discussing her pregnancy, school attendance and

doctor's appointments, all of which were central themes in

-1-
1508-8 Brooks COA



hundreds of bullying phone calls and emails admitted into evidence.

Has Brooks failed to show that the prosecutor's inferences from the

evidence were improper, and so flagrant and ill-intentioned as to be

incurable by instruction?

3. In a proceeding for violation of a no-contact, order, the

trial court must exclude void or inapplicable orders, with void

meaning the issuing court lacked jurisdiction to issue the type of

order; otherwise the order's validity may not be collaterally

challenged. The Federal Way Municipal Court issued a clearly

defined domestic-violence no-contact order against Brooks in a

misdemeanor domestic-violence assault case arising in Federal

Way, and the case was pending during all his charged violations.

Is Brooks barred from collaterally attacking the validity of the order

based on its expiration date?

B STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

AI-Penyo Brooks was charged in King County Superior Court

with Tampering with aWitness —Domestic Violence, Assault in the

Fourth Degree —Domestic Violence, and five counts of Domestic

Violence Misdemeanor Violation of a Court Order. CP 46-48. His

-2-
1508-8 Brooks COA



first trial ended in a mistrial. RP 262.E At his second trial, which

was riddled with constant interruptions and disruptions by Brooks

resulting in his repeated removal from the courtroom, a jury

convicted Brooks as charged. CP 52-61. The court imposed 55

months of confinement. CP 97. Brooks timely appealed. CP 105.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

On January 20, 2014, Brooks visited his girlfriend, Alexis

Wilturner, at her grandmother's home in Federal Way, King County,

Washington. RP 376, 633. When Wilturner stepped out of the

room, Brooks snooped in her cell phone and found messages from

another man. RP 381, 633. He locked himself in the bathroom to

read the messages as Wilturner pleaded on the verge of tears for

her phone back. RP 639. At some point during the argument,

Brooks punched Wilturner in the mouth, splitting her lip. RP 381.

Brooks left the apartment, but forgot his own cell phone inside.

RP 650. Wilturner's grandmother called 911 and reported that

Brooks had punched Wilturner and was now outside banging on the

door and would not leave. Ex. 1. Federal Way police officers

arrived to find Brooks banging on the door, and detained him.

~ The State follows Brooks's numbering of the verbatim report of proceedings. All
relevant oral record is included in amultiple-volume transcript with consecutively
numbered pages to 746.
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RP 377. Wilturner told Officer Oscar Villanueva that Brooks

punched her once in the mouth, causing the split lip. RP 381. The

officers arrested Brooks and took him to the South Correctional

Entity (SCORE) jail. RP 404.

The next day, January 21, 2014, Brooks was charged and

arraigned in Federal Way Municipal Court on one count of Assault

in the Fourth Degree —Domestic Violence. Ex. 13. Brooks had a

public defender with him at the SCORE jail and appeared via video.

Id. The judge signed apre-trial Domestic Violence No-Contact

Order prohibiting Brooks from contacting Wilturner, including "by

phone, mail, or electronic means." Ex. 12. The expiration date was

typewritten as January 21, 2063. Ex. 12. Brooks signed the order

and was served with a copy. Ex. 12, 13.

Within a week, Brooks began calling Wilturner from the

SCORE jail, often several times a day. Ex. 21; RP 446-48, 559.

A supervising captain at the SCORE jail testified that between

January 21 and March 6, Brooks called Wilturner's cell phone 65

times. RP 559. The jury heard recordings of 17 of the calls.

RP 568-85; Ex. 26. A summary:
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• On January 27, Brooks called to explain his case, and

Wilturner told Brooks, "I am pregnant just so you know."

Ex. 26.2

• On January 28, Brooks called Wilturner a "stupid-ass bitch,"

accused her of not wanting him released, and said, "I will

never forgive you for this." Ex. 26.3

• Less than half an hour later, Brooks sobbed that Wilturner

had set him up to violate the no-contact order, and said,

"They're probably going to hit me with prison time." Ex. 26.4

He accused her of having another boyfriend. Id.

• On February 1, Brooks demanded that Wilturner get money

for bail. Ex. 26.5 Wilturn~r said she was busy with "doctor's

appointments and everything else," but Brooks persisted. Id.

• On February 8, Brooks interrogated Wilturner about her bank

balance, and Wilturner said she did not want to use "the

baby's bank account" to bail him out. Ex. 26.6

• Less than half an hour later, Brooks called back and

Wilturner again said she did not want to spend "my baby's

2 In Ex. 26 (Final Jail Calls on CD), this call recording is labeled
15915556 28148_01-27-2014 195809_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3. The last four
digits of the file names are redacted here to protect the victim's privacy.

3 This is labeled 15933570_28148_01-28-2014_150853_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3.

4 This is labeled 15934495_28148_01-28-2014_153442_1-206-853-~oocx.mp3.

5 This is labeled 16062596 28148 02-01-2014 201445 1-206-853-xxxx.way.

6 This is labeled 16260369_28148_02-08-2014_110016_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3.
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money to get you out." Ex. 26.E Brooks claimed to have a

heart condition and said he could die from "all this stress

you're putting me through." Id.

• On February 14, Brooks cursed at Wilturner for hanging up

on him earlier and again accused her of not wanting him out.

Ex. 26.$ When she tried to reply, he yelled, "Shut the fuck up

and let me speak." Id.

• Ten minutes later, Brooks called back to demand Wilturner's

email address. Ex. 26.9

• On Feb. 18, as soon as Wilturner answered the phone,

Brooks said, "Baby, listen, I'm going to tell you something

right now, do not show up for court or they will charge me."

Ex. 21, 26:10 He added that, "If you show up, I'm fucked."

Id. Wilturner expressed reluctance, saying "I'm going to

have a warrant if I don't." Id. Brooks replied that she should

"take the fucking warrant," and that she should trust him

because, "I know what I'm talking about." Id. Wilturner

worried that she could be charged with "failure to appear,"

but Brooks assured her, "They're just doing that to scare you

so they can charge me." Id. Brooks demanded that

Wilturner not show up to court 13 times. Id. He told her he

"could get 33 months in prison." Id. He assured her that

~ This is labeled 16261432_28148_02-08-2014_112641_1-206-853-~ocx.mp3.

$ This is labeled 16477459 28148 02-14-2014 204707 1-206-853-xxxx.way.

9 This is labeled 16477573_28148_02-14-2014_205748_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3.

'o This is labeled 16582972_28148_02-18-2014_100540_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3.

S:~
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"you're the victim here, babe," and she would not be locked

up. Id. "If you don't show up for court," Brooks said, "they're

going to drop my charges and I'm going to be out; no-contact

order will be lifted so we can be around each other." Id. He

said he could spend two years in prison if she showed up to

court. Id. If she loved him, Brooks said, she would want him

out. Id. He finally said "Please, babe, I'm begging you, do

not go!" Wilturner then said, "OK," and Brooks replied, I love

you, man." Id.

• On February 21, Brooks called to read Wilturner a love poem

and then insisted that she tattoo his full name on her neck.

Ex. 26. ~ ~

• On February 22, Brooks was upset about Wilturner's recent

emails because he was locked up. Ex. 26.12 Wilturner

reminded Brooks that she was dealing with pregnancy.

Brooks replied, "If you gave a fuck, you would watch my

feelings, man, for real, and make my time go better, not

worse." Id.

• On Feb. 26, Wilturner said she was watching her diet

because her doctor told her she was overweight. Ex. 26.13

Brooks dismissively said she could just "go to the YMCA."

Id. Brooks said he "should be out March 12 —that is, if you

don't show up for court." Id. He then assured Wilturner

"This is labeled 16713419_28148_02-21-2014_200117_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3.

~Z This is labeled 16749286_28148_02-22-2014_201916_1-206-853-~ocx.mp3.

13 This is labeled 16888704_28148_02-26-2014_201226_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3.
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"they're not allowed to fucking arrest you," and "everybody's

went through it," meaning "Assault 4 DV charges." Id.

• On February 28, Brooks angrily demanded to know why

Wilturner went downtown but would not send him any

money. Ex. 26.14 She hung up on him.

• About 15 minutes later, Brooks insisted that Wilturner not go

downtown any more, and accused her of seeing her

"Westlake boyfriend." Ex. 26,15

• On March 1, Brooks demanded to know whether Wilturner

"did what I told you to do." Ex. 26.16 When she said she did,

Brooks ordered her to do it again, and "hurry up and make it

snappy." Id. She hung up. Id.

• Less than 15 minutes later, Brooks called Wilturner a "ho" for

hanging up on him. Ex. 26." They screamed at each other.

Id. Brooks again demanded that Wilturner "do what the fuck

said," and when she said she did it, he yelled, "Bitch, I told

you to do it again!" Id. He called her a "bitch" more than a

dozen times and warned her, "Watch when I get out, bitch."

Id.

~a This is labeled 16956090_28148_02-28-2014_193005_1-206-853-~ocx.mp3.

~s This is labeled 16956705_28148_02-28-2014_194414_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3.

16 This is labeled 16969016_28148_03-01-2014_104128_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3.

"This is labeled 16969558_28148_03-01-2014_105538_1-206-853-xxxx.mp3.

~:~
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• About five hours later, Brooks sang Wilturner a love song.

Ex. 26.x$ As soon as Wilturner giggled and said she liked

the song, Brooks ordered her to "hurry up and put that

money on my books." Id.

The State also introduced a 107-page printout of more than

600 email exchanges between Brooks and Wilturner between

February 15 and March 6. Ex. 8; RP 499, 504-05. Wilturner's

replies frequently discussed her pregnancy, her doctor's

appointments, starting back at school and doing homework.

Ex. 8.~9 Brooks's messages typically were jealous, accusatory and

demanding, with his focus on Wilturner complying with his requests

for money, letters and photos. Ex. 8. In response to angry

accusations about not responding promptly enough, Wilturner

reminded him of her school;and doctor obligations. Id. On

February 18, she replied to a demand by typing, "im trynna make

this shit happen, but I got hella shit on my hands daddy." Id. at 24.

The emails also discussed her being a witness in Brooks's

court case. Ex. 8. On February 17, she noted, "you know Igatta go

to court for yu on march 4 and 12, orima have a warrant, but I'm not

'$This is labeled 16982022_28148_03-01-2014_154112_1-206-853-xx~c.mp3.

19 For example, in Ex. 8, see pages 13, 27, 38, 43-44, 50-52, 62 (nurse and
doctor visits); pages 20-21, 27, 37, 44, 45 (starting school).

~%~

1508-8 Brooks COA



ganna say nun." Id. at 14. On March 5, Brooks emailed to say,

"WELL ITS ALL UR FAULT Y IM GETTING A YEAR IN JAIL IF U

COME TO COURT." Id. at 106.

The State's final witness was Federal Way Police Detective

John Kamiya, who said he had tried to contact Wilturner about her

upcoming testimony, but could not find her. RP 606-07.

Brooks testified in his defense about the fight with Wilturner

on January 20, but denied hitting her. RP 631-53. On cross-

examination, Brooks admitted calling Wilturner many times a week

from the SCORE jail during all the time periods alleged in the

charges. RP 661-63. He admitted emailing Wilturner more than

hundreds of times. RP 664. Brooks also acknowledged the

no-contact order and agreed that it prohibited him from contacting

Wilturner by phone, mail or electronically. RP 665. However,

Brooks claimed he had refused to sign the document, and that his

signature must have been forged. RP 668.

C. ARGUMENT

1. WILTURNER'S HEARSAY STATEMENTS WERE
PROPERLY ADMITTED BECAUSE SUBSTANTIAL
EVIDENCE SUPPORTED FORFEITURE BY
WRONGDOING.

Brooks contends that the trial court lacked clear, cogent and

convincing evidence that Brooks's persistent telephone and email

-10-
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badgering of Wilturner to not testify was the actual cause of her

unavailability because it is possible she may have "independently"

chosen not to support the prosecution. To the contrary, the trial

court was presented with evidence of dozens of telephone calls and

hundreds of emails showing an aggressive, single-minded

campaign to dissuade Wilturner from appearing, even though she

explicitly worried that she might get arrested and charged with a

crime. Additionally, the trial court accepted the State's assertions

that Wilturner had been in contact with the State about the case

until the illegal contact with Brooks began. Forfeiture by

wrongdoing does not require a trial court to be convinced beyond a

reasonable doubt or rule out all other possibilities. Nor does the

doctrine specify the degree or nature of conduct,.so long as it

caused the absence. The trial court had more than sufficient

evidence to find it highly probable that Brooks's egregious actions

caused Wilturner's unavailability.

a. Additional Relevant Facts.

The State moved pretrial to admit the hearsay statements of

Wilturner via Officer Villanueva because the State had lost all

contact with Wilturner. CP 136-45; RP 185-99. The State

presented records of dozens of phone calls made by Brooks to

-11-
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Wilturner in violation of the Federal Way no-contact order, and

played three of the calls for the court pretrial. Pretrial Ex. 7, 8;

RP 190. Those three calls also were later admitted at trial and are

summarized in the Substantive Facts section, supra:

1. a call on February 14 where Brooks demands Wilturner's

email address;

2. a call on February 14 where Brooks berates her for

hanging up on her, accuses her of not wanting him "out,"

and tells her to "shut the fuck up;" and

3. the lengthy call on February 18 where he demanded 13

times that she not come to court, and assured her,

despite her expressed worries, that she would not get a

warrant for her arrest or be charged with a crime for not

showing up.

Pretrial Ex. 8.20

The State also attested to more than 650 emails exchanged

between Brooks and Wilturner. CP 141. The State urged the court

to consider the totality of Brooks's behavior in the context of the

dynamics of adomestic-violence relationship, including playing

upon Wilturner's pregnancy. Id. The State additionally attested

that Wilturner had been in contact with the prosecution early on, but

ceased contact as soon as her contact with Brooks began.

20 The February 18 call is transcribed in the State's Supplemental Trial
Memorandum, CP 141-44.
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CP 144; RP 187, 197. The State said an hours-long effort by a

Federal Way police officer to find Wilturner was unsuccessful, and

she didn't return the prosecutor's recent phone calls. CP 144;

RP 197.

Brooks objected on the grounds that there was no evidence

of coercion or threats to kill Wilturner, and that the State had not

tried hard enough to procure Wilturner's testimony.

The trial court said that the State's burden to show that

Brooks engaged in wrongdoing with a specific intent to prevent the

witness's testimony was "clearly satisfied." RP 196. While the

State was arguing causatian, the judge commented that "I have

never seen a case like this before where there's this type of effort."

RP 198. The court then summarily stated, "I'm going to grant" the

State's motion to admit the hearsay statements of Wilturner.

RP 200. The court added that it accepted the State's attestations

about its efforts to procure Wilturner's testimony because they were

representations of an officer of the court. RP 209.

b. The Court Had Ample Evidence To Find
Forfeiture By Wrongdoing.

Constitutional issues, such as potential violations of the Sikh

Amendment right to confront witnesses, are subject to de novo
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review. State v. Price, 158 Wn.2d 630, 638-39, 146 P.3d 1183

(2006). Atrial court's findings of fact are reviewed to determine

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